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          1  COMMITTEE ON ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT

          2                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: Good afternoon.

          3  I am still Councilman Sanders, Chair of the Economic

          4  Development Committee and we are discussing Intro.

          5  373.

          6                 As everyone in here knows it is a

          7  work in progress. We are down to the wire, we are

          8  real close I have been told to an agreement.  We

          9  expect to have an agreement before this day is up

         10  and I trust that means before daylight is up. With

         11  that is an understanding that we do want to give

         12  opportunity for different experts and different

         13  interest groups who want to weigh in on this issue.

         14  Having said that I suspect that we should call the

         15  Administration first to tell us, EDC of course, to

         16  tell us where they are.  And without further adieu,

         17  I will call our good friends at the Economic

         18  Development Corporation and/or their representatives

         19  to take our stand and testify.

         20                 We are going to do the abbreviated

         21  version today my friends.  We are going to go

         22  straight to the points because time is not our

         23  friend this afternoon. When it is appropriate, when

         24  you can identify yourself and tell us what brings

         25  you here today.  Good afternoon sir.
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          2                 MR. RAWLINS (phonetic): Good

          3  afternoon Chairman Sanders.  I want to thank you for

          4  inviting EDC to testify on Intro. 373- A.  My name

          5  is Conley Rawlins, I am the Chief at the Economic

          6  Development Corporation.  I am joined here by John

          7  Cerolia (phonetic), our Chief Financial

          8  Administrative Officer and Randy Weis (phonetic),

          9  our Chief Economist. Randy is responsible for

         10  compiling the information pursuant to Local Law 69.

         11                 EDC's core mission is to foster a

         12  strong business environment that encourages growth

         13  and investment in our City.  EDC is committed in

         14  this effort to openness and accountability,

         15  commitment that comes directly from Mayor Bloomberg.

         16  EDC is also fully engaged with the Council and it's

         17  efforts beginning with fulfilling its reporting

         18  requirements under Local Law Number 69.           We

         19  have also proactively taken a number of additional

         20  steps discussed with the Council to further improve

         21  openness and accountability.  Our reforms began long

         22  before the reporting requirements in Local Law 69

         23  and touch the earlier stages of IDA's work.  We have

         24  greatly expanded the public's ability to participate

         25  and offer input during the oversight approval of
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          2  benefits packages.

          3                 Last year without legislative

          4  mandate, working closely with the Council, EDC made

          5  significant new changes to Local Law 69.  These

          6  changes include adding the date of the Benefit

          7  Agreement and its duration, single projects

          8  involving multiple bond issuances have been

          9  consolidated.  We have revised the introduction to

         10  the report to make it clearer and more user

         11  friendly. To improve access to the report we now

         12  post it on our internet site and we now include the

         13  source of current year employment figures.

         14                 Again, these were all changes that

         15  were made as a result of working collaboratively

         16  with the Council and without mandate of the law.

         17                 Although we were unable to include

         18  them in the most recent report primarily due to the

         19  time and programming required to implement the

         20  changes, again working with the Council we have

         21  agreed upon additional changes to the report that

         22  will improve its utility.  We are actively working

         23  to ensure that these changes will be implemented in

         24  the next version of the report.  Furthermore, EDC is

         25  committed to implement virtually all of the dozens
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          2  of proposals included in Intro. 373- A.

          3                 Before I comment on the legislation

          4  itself, I would like to quickly offer a measure of

          5  EDC's effort to encourage economic growth in the

          6  City as reported in Local Law 69.  By any measure

          7  EDC has been successful.  In Fiscal '04, EDC and IDA

          8  programs were responsible for assuring that nearly a

          9  quarter of a million jobs stayed in New York City.

         10  This figure is an actual number based on the

         11  required project reporting form each business is

         12  required to fill in at the end of every Fiscal year

         13  and from which EDC draws its data for the report.

         14                 How much did these almost a quarter

         15  of a million jobs cost the City?  In Fiscal '04 the

         16  City forewent $126 billion in various taxes and

         17  fees, while these same companies paid over $1.1

         18  billion in taxes to the City.  Broken down, these

         19  companies paid $213 million in property taxes and

         20  $923 million in income consumption and use taxes.

         21  All of these numbers are hard numbers. They reflect

         22  verifiable data collected by the City and reported

         23  to you every year.

         24                 Here are some more hard numbers all

         25  currently available in the report.  Chairman
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          2  Sanders, in your home borough of Queens, in Fiscal

          3   '04 businesses kept or grew 23,000 jobs which put

          4  over $80 million in direct tax benefits into the

          5  economy.  The City spent just under $8 million in

          6  fiscal '04 for these benefits.

          7                 Brooklyn benefited from nearly 25,000

          8  jobs created or retained through our efforts,

          9  generating over 100 million in direct tax benefits

         10  at a cost of just under $12 million in FY '04.

         11                 The Bronx now has almost 8,300 jobs

         12  because of EDC/IDA programs creating almost $25

         13  million in direct tax benefits.  The City spent $2.6

         14  million for these benefits last year.

         15                 Staten Island and Manhattan also

         16  receive a central support to retain critical

         17  industries and communities throughout those

         18  boroughs.

         19                 Intro. 373- A is an effort to expand

         20  further the details contained in the report.  In

         21  fact EDC supports a majority of proposals put forth

         22  by the Council and agrees that they can better

         23  enable readers of the report to evaluate the success

         24  of our programs.  As I said earlier in my testimony,

         25  we have already included a number of these changes
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          2  in our most recent report and others we are actively

          3  implementing for the next version of the report.

          4                 However, several of these provisions

          5  actually only four of them, and this draft of the

          6  legislation are cause for significant concern

          7  imposing new reporting requirements on not- for

          8  profits, small businesses and large employers alike.

          9  Our concerns are based not only on our own analysis

         10  of the last version of the bill that we saw, but

         11  also on numerous conversations with Carl Hum,

         12  (phonetic) the Director of the Mayor's Office on

         13  Industrial Policy and number of small and large

         14  businesses that we have spoken with.

         15                 First, of deep concern to EDC as

         16  language in paragraph B- 10 requiring all businesses

         17  to report "the percentage of employees earning less

         18  than $15 per hour and the number in percentage of

         19  employees receiving health benefits."  Businesses

         20  consider this information proprietary and may

         21  consider this requirement to breach confidentiality

         22  standards. As a result, companies may simply refuse

         23  to report this data or even worse choose not to do

         24  business with the City at all.                     Reporting

         25  on the percentage of employees using the businesses
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          2  health insurance is also problematic.  As a base

          3  number does not show how many employees have opted

          4  out of the program to join a spouses health

          5  benefits, nor does it fairly represent how many

          6  employees are actually eligible for the benefits if

          7  part- time employees.  Other mitigating factors will

          8  increase or decrease the number.  This metric will

          9  at best reveal the financial difficulties of small

         10  businesses more than anything else.

         11                 Secondly, paragraph B- 11 requires

         12  information on the number of employees living in the

         13  City, not only for the company doing business with

         14  EDC, but also for any subsidiary and parent

         15  industries of that company.  On the one hand EDC

         16  supports reporting gathering basic residency data on

         17  participating industries.  But the proposed language

         18  goes well beyond this standard to include businesses

         19  that are in no way part of the incentive deal.

         20                 One example might be NBC signing an

         21  agreement with EDC and then being required to report

         22  on the residential status of all employees of

         23  General Electric, it's parent company.  Nor does the

         24  bill define the extent of this reporting

         25  requirement, leaving words like subsidiary open to
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          2  interpretation, further reducing it empirical value

          3  to readers.

          4                 Our third concern, paragraph B- 13

          5  asks for "all other City benefits received or

          6  applied for and the estimated total value of each."

          7  Without the creation of a new inter- agency

          8  reporting database and without creating and funding

          9  the Administrative capacity to manage this new

         10  database this requirement is unrealistic.

         11                 There are benefits available through

         12  virtually every City agency.  These benefits may be

         13  obtained before or after contracting with EDC and

         14  they will more often than not be holy unrelated to

         15  EDC's business retention packages.  Benefits itself

         16  remains an undefined term and could include

         17  virtually any service rendered by the City to the

         18  recipient. Accordingly it will be virtually

         19  impossible to obtain an accurate record of these

         20  benefits.

         21                 In addition, these benefits are

         22  available on an as of- right basis to every company

         23  in the City.  Imposing additional scrutiny on these

         24  companies just because they have a separate benefit

         25  agreement with EDC is unfair.
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          2                 Finally, our fourth issue is

          3  concerned with the effective date of Intro. 373- A.

          4  Deals that may be months in development and that are

          5  now nearing completion may be jeopardized by the

          6  creation of an unforeseen new mandate on the

          7  company.  We ask that the Council push the effective

          8  date to at least October 1st of this year to ensure

          9  that any new deals that fall under the new

         10  requirements are negotiated from the outset with the

         11  understanding that these new requirements are to be

         12  imposed.

         13                 I want to reiterate that as part of

         14  its overall effort to improve transparency, EDC has

         15  been more than willing to revaluate and approve the

         16  Local Law 69 report to make it a better tool for

         17  assessing the impact and value of EDC benefits

         18  programs. We therefore welcome many proposed

         19  revisions in Intro. 373- A.

         20                 However, there are certain requests

         21  for data that add complexity to the report but do

         22  not help quantify benefits, other data that are

         23  difficult, if not impossible to collect, and still

         24  others may simply pose a threat to businesses need

         25  for confidentiality.  As a result certain industries
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          2  may simply choose to do business elsewhere.

          3  Conversely, the City compelled by this new law could

          4  lose untold opportunities with companies who feel

          5  they cannot comply with this element of the law.

          6                 Most of the companies included in

          7  Local Law 69 are small and many are not- for-

          8  profits.  By the very fact that they are receiving

          9  benefits of this kind, these companies are either

         10  struggling to make ends meet, or struggling to keep

         11  their businesses or jobs located within the City.

         12  Providing benefits of this sort is a balancing act

         13  requiring enough information to make responsible

         14  decisions but not creating Administrative reporting

         15  burdens so onerous as to undercut the value of the

         16  benefits conferred.

         17                 Although much of Intro. 373 would

         18  improve this balance, some of its requirements,

         19  again only four, would put too costly a burden on

         20  businesses already making difficult location

         21  decisions.  Accordingly the Administration can only

         22  support this legislation if the recommended changes

         23  that I have outlined have been made.

         24                 Intro. 373- A presents an opportunity

         25  to improve public understanding of the City's many
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          2  important business incentive programs.  With our

          3  comments in mind, I would ask the Committee to

          4  consider certain modifications to Intro. 373- A so

          5  that in the end the City has a bill that creates an

          6  accurate and effective means of measuring EDC's

          7  incentive programs.

          8                 Thank you for the opportunity to

          9  testify and for the Council Staff's  willingness to

         10  enter into a constructive dialogue with us on these

         11  issues.  We would be happy to answer any questions

         12  that you might have.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: Thank you sir.

         14  You have presented the Administration, or actually

         15  the EDC's case very well. Let me see if I

         16  understand, first things first.  Paragraph B- 10, I

         17  believe, I am looking for the problem paragraph

         18  first.  Paragraph B- 10, B- 11, B- 13.

         19                 MR. RAWLINS: And the effective date.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS:  The effective

         21  date.

         22                 MR. RAWLINS: Right, those are our

         23  four concerns.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: Yes.  Let's see,

         25  I will go backwards for just -- and of course I have
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          2  not spoken to Counsel, I have not heard from other

          3  people.  I'm just giving you some initial feedback.

          4  October sounds like it's going from the last to the

          5  first.  October sounds like a long way away sir.

          6  The City is in the middle of megamerger, mega deals

          7  are taking place and many of them will be signed by

          8  October.  Perhaps we can work on another day, a

          9  sooner date that we can find things to do together.

         10                 On Paragraph B- 13, the benefits of

         11   -- I am certainly and I am sure the Committee is

         12  certainly interested in knowing that the money that

         13  we are paying for these jobs --  Let me do it

         14  different.  The tax payor's money is being used to

         15  create jobs that you can live in New York and create

         16  benefits that you can survive in New York City.  How

         17  we get to that information I am willing to work with

         18  you but we have to know that at the end of the day

         19  good jobs are being created along with good

         20  benefits.

         21                 For all of these things I would

         22  encourage you to give me a good counter.  My mind

         23  thinks in such a fashion that if I give a proposal

         24  and it doesn't seem to take things into

         25  consideration that if you gave me a worthy count.
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          2  I'm very pragmatic. I'm looking for a way to make it

          3  work, rather than a way of making your day or

          4  scoring silly points somewhere.

          5                 Paragraph B- 11, we are concerned

          6  about the amount of jobs that we create for people

          7  who live in New York City that there is some spill-

          8  over effect is worthy and you know, we have nothing

          9  against that.  We understand that all of the talent

         10  that a company may need they may not find in New

         11  York City.  However, we have such a large pool of

         12  talent here, it would be very strange not to find

         13  it.  So that one you have to give me more of a

         14  reason why that can't be.

         15                 In terms of the first one, the

         16  proprietary issues, well I mean I have not spoken to

         17  Counsel, I have not heard from the other good

         18  people.  A possible counter is a range, where people

         19   -- Just as when I fill out my disclosure forms I

         20  have to put a range and all that work for this great

         21  City need to do things of that nature. The tighter

         22  the range, the more likely that we will look at it.

         23                 Having said that, I will stop.  Is

         24  there any question that you want to raise right now?

         25    Council Member Gerson.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: I think you

          3  have covered it for now.  I think you know, it's in

          4  the best interest of the people in the City of New

          5  York that we wind up with a bill and with a system

          6  which provides all of the relevant and significant

          7  information.  I think my Chair's suggested way of

          8  proceeding is as he always is, right on the mark.

          9  So, I'll leave it at that.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS:  If that's the

         11  case, I want to thank you gentlemen for making your

         12  presentation and we will call the next panel.

         13                 MR. RAWLINS: Thank you so much.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: Okay.  Well

         15  let's hear from City Project and Pratt Center and

         16  Good Jobs New York.

         17                 And if everybody can fit on that

         18  space we are doing well.  We'll start with Good Jobs

         19  and we'll go to Pratt and then City Project.

         20                 MS. DAMIANI: Good afternoon.  My name

         21  is Bettina Damiani.  I direct Good Jobs New York.

         22  We are a corporate and accountability organization

         23  here in New York City.  I am joined by Stephanie

         24  Greenwood, our Research Analyst who probably has

         25  spent more time than anybody can imagine looking
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          2  through all the pages of Local Law 69.

          3                 Thank you very much for holding this

          4  Hearing today. We are very excited about the process

          5  of more transparency.  I would like to thank EDC for

          6  coming today and for all the steps they have made in

          7  transparency up until now.  And not on just Local

          8  Law 69 reports, they have made very important

          9  efforts towards opening up the public hearing

         10  process as well and making sure the public has

         11  adequate information prior to those hearings so we

         12  can testify, hopefully to engage in a much broader

         13  debate.

         14                 Good Jobs New York started in 1999

         15  with the specific purpose of bringing more

         16  transparency to corporate retention deals. And the

         17  reality is that New York City is behind the curve.

         18  There is lots of discussion today about other

         19  businesses fleeing New York.  But we are behind

         20  Arizona, California, Colorado, Delaware, Georgia,

         21  Iowa, Louisiana, Maine, Mississippi, Missouri,

         22  Nevada, New Jersey, New Mexico, North Carolina --

         23                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: Please, I'm

         24  sorry.  I have these out of order.

         25                 MS. DAMIANI: That's okay.  That's all
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          2  right.  I'll start at New Jersey because I want to

          3  emphasize the New Jersey part.

          4             -- New Jersey, New Mexico, North

          5  Carolina, Oklahoma, Rhode Island, South Carolina,

          6  Texas, Virginia and Wisconsin.  These states, not

          7  only require basic transparency, they require that

          8  benefits and certain wages be provided to employees

          9  at subsidized companies.

         10                 All we are asking for in this bill is

         11  transparency. We are not requiring subsidized firms

         12  to pay their workers a living wage or even provide

         13  them basic health benefits.  We are still going to

         14  be behind the curve if this bill goes through.  But

         15  it will an important first step to opening up the

         16  process.

         17                 I think we need to reiterate that if

         18  large companies and small companies are getting New

         19  York City tax dollars, we have to make sure there is

         20  a connection for New York City residents. And it is

         21  very important to the Council to ensure that New

         22  York City residents are having some type of access

         23  to these jobs.  It will also allow the City to link

         24  work- force development programs we think more

         25  clearly and have an understanding which companies
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          2  are getting benefits and what types of jobs are

          3  going to be created in the future.

          4                 I am going to reemphasize job

          5  quality.  This will be the first time that the City

          6  could analyze whether jobs at subsidized companies

          7  will come with health benefits.  And I think this

          8  week is actually Health Week for the Uninsured week,

          9  if we are going to fall into PR mode. So it should

         10  be I think, in light of obviously the issues and in

         11  the years coming down the pike about how uninsured

         12  people are going to have a burden on our City and

         13  State tax dollars, we need to have a better

         14  understanding of what that is.

         15                 Public Costs.  We think it's

         16  important that the disclosure report is structured

         17  so that the accuracy of the cost benefit analysis at

         18  this point, that there has been some strides. It's

         19  really questionable at best.

         20                 Stephanie who is our Research

         21  Analysis actually went through individual agreements

         22  between some of the larger corporate retention deals

         23  to compare them to what was reported in Local Law

         24  69.  Some of that information is different.  We need

         25  to make sure that accurate information is in one
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          2  local place.  When I say that we are behind the

          3  curve, accessibility is very important, it's going

          4  to be on the Web and we think that's tremendous.

          5                 On the testimony that I have provided

          6  you, you should have a dream scenario.  And believe

          7  it or not Ohio is our dream scenario.  You can go, I

          8  know, Ohio, Mississippi, you can go to their Web

          9  page and click on a county and when you click on a

         10  county you can put in, you will see a list of

         11  subsidy recipients. You can click on that and for

         12  example we just picked randomly Economy Linen and

         13  Towel Service.  Then you will find out what

         14  district, you know school districts in other parts

         15  of the country are very important when it comes to

         16  economic development issues. So local school

         17  districts, the name of the business, have they had

         18  relocation of jobs, did those jobs go out of state,

         19  the value of the subsidy deal, how many part- time

         20  jobs, how many permanent jobs.               So

         21  there are lots of examples out there that we are

         22  hoping we can build on to bring transparency to the

         23  larger issue of corporate subsidy.  As you mentioned

         24  there are large corporate retention deals and

         25  projects happening and we think August might be a
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          2  little too far.  We would encourage something a

          3  little bit sooner.  As you watched the IDA in the

          4  past couple of months there haven't been any

          5  gigantic subsidy deals, at least commercial

          6  retention that we know of.  So we don't think

          7  anything would hold that up.

          8                 Basic transparency, I am going to

          9  take a step back for a minute.  Connecticut,

         10  Illinois, Maine, Minnesota and Ohio as I mentioned

         11  have basic transparency issues.  New Jersey has a

         12  requirement for health insurance and wages.  The far

         13  biggest issue is New Jersey, the least we can do is

         14  have basic transparency on it.  Obviously we would

         15  love the next step to be that there be job quality

         16  standards required for subsidy recipients.

         17                 I don't want to take up too much of

         18  this time but we had in the back of our testimony we

         19  have done a comparison of the Bank of America

         20  subsidy deal, which we kind of think is a poster

         21  child of subsidy deals gone wrong.  In 1993 they

         22  received a deal for the World Trade Center.  They

         23  laid off so many workers the City stopped providing

         24  benefits to Bank of America, but nobody in the

         25  public knew about it.
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          2                 We think if the City is going to take

          3  subsidies away, or future subsidies away from a

          4  company because they have not lived up to their

          5  promise of jobs, should make them an example.  So

          6  you can come to New York City, but you are going to

          7  have to keep your promise and if you don't, we are

          8  going to take your money back.  There was nothing in

          9  Local Law 69 that reflected that.  So on the back of

         10  our testimony we sort of have if we could make up

         11  what a Local Law 69 page would look like and how it

         12  would incorporate the concerns that we have talked

         13  about today.  So we hope that we can use that as an

         14  example.  Thank you very much.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: Thank you very

         16  much.  Let's hear from Pratt.

         17                 MS. KHAN: Good afternoon everyone.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: Good afternoon.

         19                 MS. KHAN: Thank you for the

         20  opportunity to provide testimony today.  My name is

         21  Mafruza Khan --

         22                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS:  If you can grab

         23  that mic. Much closer to you and if you can begin

         24  anew.

         25                 MS. KHAN: Sorry about that.  Is this

                                                            23

          1  COMMITTEE ON ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT

          2  better?

          3                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: Much better.

          4                 MS. KHAN: Okay, thank you.  Good

          5  afternoon again everyone.  My name is Mafruza Khan

          6  and I am an Associate Director for the Pratt Center.

          7    I am here today to express our support for

          8  Introduction 373- A that has been introduced by

          9  Chairman Sanders and we believe that this

         10  legislation would greatly improve the City's public

         11  reporting requirements for companies that receive

         12  discretionary development incentives.

         13                 Introduction 373- A, as we all know

         14  builds on the existing City subsidy disclosure law,

         15  Local Law 69, which it does provide some useful

         16  information that also falls short in several key

         17  areas.  There are a number of reasons why we need

         18  this legislation.  First and foremost it is in the

         19  public interest that City Council Members have clear

         20  information about these off- budget items.

         21

         22                 According to the most recent Local

         23  Law 69 report in Fiscal 2004, we spent over half a

         24  billion dollars in these development subsidies.  The

         25  Council and the public can only understand if our
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          2  tax dollars are being spent responsibly and

          3  accountability if they have a good data gathering

          4  analysis and reporting system.

          5                 Overall we all understand that

          6  Introduction 373- A would provide a better

          7  accounting and understanding of the costs and

          8  benefits of discretionary development subsidies by

          9  creating a more streamlined and publicly available

         10  information system.  It would also provide new data

         11  on a number of key areas for example jobs.

         12                 By including the number of subsidized

         13  jobs held by New York City, this information would

         14  provide and create a link between economic

         15  development and workforce development and allow

         16  policy makers to see if subsidies are creating jobs

         17  for New Yorkers, whether or now subsidized companies

         18  are living up to commitment and what are the quality

         19  of the jobs being created by these incentives.

         20                 It would also be better able to

         21  understand the public costs of these subsidies, the

         22  type and estimated amount of all benefits available

         23  for each project and the estimated total cost per

         24  deal, as well as sunshine on recapture payments.

         25                 We at the Pratt Center believe that
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          2  these and other recommendation proposed under

          3  Introduction 373- A would greatly enhance the

          4  opportunity for promoting accountable and

          5  responsible development in New York City through

          6  better disclosure and reporting.  Our experience

          7  working in New York City on community development,

          8  particularly through community planning to promote

          9  equity and sustainability lead us to believe that

         10  Introduction 373 A would empower communities and

         11  public officials by providing them with information

         12  to make informed judgment about the true costs and

         13  benefits of a project and help guide public policy.

         14                 Just as an example, we are working,

         15  the community members in Brooklyn discussing the

         16  pros and cons of the proposed Mets stadium.  And one

         17  of the key issues that comes up is.  What is the

         18  cost of this project?  How can we make a decision if

         19  they are going to support this project or not unless

         20  we know what it costs us?  You can't buy something

         21  unless you know what it costs.  So that's kind of an

         22  example where something like this would be very

         23  effective in community planning and promoting public

         24  participation in development deals around New York

         25  City.
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          2                 Finally, by providing access to

          3  information the proposed legislation would enhance

          4  opportunities for public oversight and contribute to

          5  the skill responsibility.

          6                 Thank you again for the opportunity

          7  to speak.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: Thank you. How

          9  about from the City Project.  If you can get that

         10  microphone.

         11                 MS. HAYS: My name is Rachel Hays.  I

         12  am Associate Director of City Project.  Thank you

         13  for the opportunity to testify today in support of

         14  Intro. 373- A.  City Project joins with Good Jobs

         15  New York and others in urging the Council to pass

         16  this legislation.

         17                 City Project's mission is to ensure

         18  that the City's budget, on both expense and the

         19  revenue sides is able to meet the full diverse needs

         20  of the City's residents.  More than two- thirds of

         21  the City's $48 billion City budget is funded locally

         22  through City taxes, fees and fines.  However, each

         23  year billions of dollars in City tax revenue are

         24  foregone through a huge array of property tax

         25  abatements, tax credits, exemptions, sales and
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          2  income and franchise tax breaks.  And these are to

          3  further various social and economic goals.

          4                 But unlike the annual budget process

          5  through which priorities are publicly set for

          6  spending tax dollars for public services and other

          7  needs, these misleadingly named tax expenditures

          8  occur off budget.  And so they are not recorded as

          9  expense items anywhere in the City's budget and are

         10  therefore are not subject to the scrutiny or

         11  accountability that you get through the formal

         12  budget process.

         13                 Piecemeal reporting requirements for

         14  different sub sectors of tax expenditures shed some

         15  light on this lost revenue, but in general they fall

         16  far short of providing adequate information to

         17  thoroughly assess whether specific programs are

         18  actually fulfilling the goals for which they were

         19  designed.

         20                   One of the more controversial areas

         21  are these economical development subsidies in the

         22  form of tax breaks granted by the Economic

         23  Development Corporation to businesses to create or

         24  retain jobs.  As the Hearing last year by this

         25  Committee revealed existing reporting requirements
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          2  are inadequate to provide basic information of

          3  greater interest and usefulness to policy- makers

          4  and advocates trying to evaluate whether companies

          5  have fulfilled their obligations.

          6                 The reporting reforms proposed in

          7  373- A are important steps in the right direction.

          8  I just want to second the point about ensuring that

          9  there is some measure of the quality of jobs created

         10  and retained.  You know, there might be different

         11  ways to do it but City tax payers have the right to

         12  know the quality of the jobs being created,

         13  especially in this time of ongoing budget deficits.

         14                 So, just to close I would say that

         15  City Project supports this legislation.  It's

         16  essential to making public the kind of precise and

         17  accurate information necessary to evaluate whether

         18  these policies are actually meeting their stated

         19  goals.

         20                 Thank you.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS:  Let me, on

         22  behalf of the City Council thank all three

         23  organizations for doing great work, not just here,

         24  but over the years to make it a better New York

         25  City.
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          2                 We've heard several different things.

          3    In fact, let me start by saying we were joined at

          4  this Committee Hearing by Council Members Diana

          5  Reyna, Council Member Clarke and Council Member

          6  Gerson, who in a moment Council Member Gerson will

          7  give a question, but let me give one.

          8                 Of course, your point was very well

          9  taken when you push New Jersey, Mississippi and you

         10  know Ohio.  With exception of the first, the last

         11  two are not noted for their enlightened policies,

         12  but that seems to make us well.  I especially like

         13  the diagram that you gave on Ohio, that seems really

         14  assessable if one could just go into a County or to

         15  an area and to find out what is going on in that

         16  area, and they have that on the Web?

         17                 MS. DAMIANI: Yes, we were hoping

         18  downstairs, if you had Powerpoint if we could log on

         19  to show how easy it was.  But, we brought print-

         20  outs just in case it couldn't happen.  The Website

         21  is on the bottom of the print- out so we encourage

         22  you all to go see literally how assessable.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: I'm going to do

         24  that.  I going to go in there.  And how expensive

         25  was that -- Do you have any idea how expensive was
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          2  that for Ohio?  Is there a New York City exception?

          3  Surely in scale, if the State of Ohio can do it, the

          4  City of New York, I mean it might be a rough

          5  approximation.

          6                 MS. DAMIANI: Well, one of the reasons

          7  why we listed all the states was because we felt

          8  because of the large workforce in New York City and

          9  the amount of incentives that we have here it was

         10  better to compare New York City to other states and

         11  actually municipalities around New York City that

         12  have stronger job quality issues.  For example

         13  Westchester, Suffolk and Rochester has more

         14  transparency issues.  But I don't know what the

         15  cause is.  We can definitely reach out to advocates

         16  in Ohio and get a better sense of sort of the build

         17  up that it took to get that done.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: If you would be

         19  kind enough. All three groups have heard the

         20  Administration's, I stand corrected, the EDC, we are

         21  going to get it together, and I will finally. Of

         22  course I will be in Congress by then, but that's a

         23  different story.

         24                 We have heard the Administration --

         25  the EDC, yes God willing save me from myself.  We've

                                                            31

          1  COMMITTEE ON ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT

          2  heard the EDC's points of concern.  Is there any way

          3  that you can suggest that their points can be met

          4  and at the same time, good reporting can take place.

          5    To any of the panelists.

          6                 MS. DAMIANI: I don't know if we can

          7  shed any new light other than our testimony is.  I

          8  think what we are requesting is actually very basic

          9  information and as I mentioned a standard if it

         10  passed would still be a weak standard as to what's

         11  gone on throughout the country in other cities.  I

         12  think we stand very firm, particularly on health

         13  insurance issues.  As I mentioned before the next

         14  few years are going to be very dramatic on the cost

         15  to municipalities for uninsured people and we need

         16  to have a better sense of what that entails and for

         17  wage ranges and understanding the quality of the

         18  jobs.  So I think we stand very firm on those two

         19  areas.

         20                 One thing that was brought up was

         21  putting together a list of other City subsidies.  I

         22  dearly would love to see other states subsidies as

         23  well, but realize that that is not very feasible.

         24  But to list other cities subsidies, you know there

         25  would be a new inter- agency funding for that.  We
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          2  would love that.  We think there is no reason in the

          3  world what the EDC can't talk to the Department of

          4  Finance and vice versa other agencies, to put in one

          5  location the value of subsidies that one particular

          6  firm is receiving. You don't think that's going to

          7  be a burden on particular businesses. It will take

          8  an effort on behalf of the City and EDC and that we

          9  recognize.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: A concern over

         11  proprietary issues has been raised.  How would any

         12  of you address that issue.

         13                 MS. DAMIANI: Well, I don't want to

         14  jump in but concerning considering areas around New

         15  York City that are already requiring that

         16  information and taking it a step further making sure

         17  that employees are receiving a certain wage and

         18  health benefits. I think this is very basic

         19  information.  We are not looking for exact numbers

         20  on either end.  It just will give us and the tax

         21  payers a broader sense of the quality of those jobs.

         22    I think we need to make sure that there is a

         23  standard set for businesses that take tax dollar

         24  from New York City to create jobs and we want to

         25  make sure that they can maintain a basic standard.

                                                            33

          1  COMMITTEE ON ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT

          2                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: What about the

          3  concept that I threw out.  You know, it's a working

          4  project as much as anything else, where I spoke of a

          5  range, if you wish, or a check off box better than

          6  the disclosures that I have to fill out. But narrow

          7  ranges, categories I mean, you know, between $10

          8  thousand to $15 thousand or some variation that will

          9  give us a gross approximation?

         10                 MS. GREENWOOD: Again, I am Stephanie

         11  Greenwood, Research Analyst with Good Jobs New York.

         12    Just to try to address that.  The other states

         13  that we mentioned that have disclosure on wages and

         14  benefits, address the confidentially concern more or

         15  less exactly in that way by having reporting on

         16  numbers that fall within certain bands of wages or

         17  within certain job classifications.  So it is a

         18  concern of businesses all over the country that they

         19  don't want actual wages of every employee certainly

         20  reported.  But, confidentiality has been addressed

         21  elsewhere by this approach of actual average wage

         22  within a series of bands or classifications.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: Taking the good

         24  state of Ohio as an example, do they put that

         25  information on the web is that ultimately on the
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          2  web?  Just as an example? Understanding that you may

          3  not have run off all the pages, I'm really putting

          4  you in a bind here.

          5                 MS. GREENWOOD: Actually, Ohio is a

          6  bit more broad. It goes specifically, it talks about

          7  permanent employment, temporary employment and then

          8  the payroll and the number of jobs that fills that.

          9  So, for example Economy Linen and Towel Service has

         10  thirty- four full time jobs with a little over $580

         11  thousand for the payroll.

         12                 MS. DAMIANI: I think that in general

         13  there are examples of how other places have

         14  addressed this concern that run a gamut.  I mean it

         15  looks like Ohio, they have what would be just sort

         16  of an entire payroll average, where they give the

         17  whole payroll and the number of employees.  So I

         18  think that there are a number of options for as you

         19  were saying earlier to get the information on job

         20  quality that we would need without compromising

         21  confidentiality.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: I suspect they

         23  are but I trust that the EDC is availing themselves

         24  to your expertise on this issue also.  Are they

         25  speaking to you guys?
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          2                 MS. DAMIANI: Yes.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: Good, good.

          4  Then I want to thank this panel very much.  You have

          5  been as enlightening as always.  Thank you very much

          6  for coming out here today.  Let's call the next

          7  group.

          8                 Let's hear from the State Senator's

          9  Office, Joseph Litman and George Sweeting, Deputy

         10  Director of New York City, Independent Budget

         11  Office.

         12                 And sir since you got there first you

         13  can identify yourself and begin.

         14                 MR. LITMAN: Good Afternoon.  My name

         15  is Joey Litman. I work for New York State Senator

         16  Liz Krueger.  Senator Krueger is in session in

         17  Albany today and could not be here and I would like

         18  to deliver a statement on her behalf.

         19                 Good afternoon.  My name is Liz

         20  Krueger and I am a State Senator for New York's

         21  twenty- sixth Senatorial District, one primarily

         22  comprising parts of Manhattan's Midtown and East

         23  Side. I would like to thank the Economic Development

         24  Committee for affording me the opportunity to speak

         25  at today's proceeding.
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          2                 City Council Introduction 373- A is

          3  an important measure, one that would establish new

          4  reporting requirements for the Economic Development

          5  Corporation and facilitate more effective scrutiny

          6  of City- provided corporate subsidies intended to

          7  create and retain jobs.

          8                 I strongly support this legislation

          9  and have been pursuing similar efforts at the State

         10  level, where I have introduced S.2414, the Corporate

         11  Accountability for Tax Expenditures Act.  I believe

         12  that the City and State can and should work together

         13  to build a more comprehensive and responsible system

         14  for monitoring the extent to which corporate

         15  subsidies either succeed for fail, and I welcome

         16  this legislation as a critical part of that effort.

         17                 Too often New York State and New York

         18  City engage in simultaneous subsidization as both

         19  governments grant financial incentive packages to

         20  single entity for a single project.  The State and

         21  City must work together to ensure that we are not

         22  forfeiting unnecessary aggregate revenue without

         23  creating or retaining more jobs that, subsequently

         24  add more value to our economies.  Unfortunately, at

         25  both levels of government, there is presently far
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          2  too little oversight of corporate subsidies making

          3  it hard to determine what we are actually getting in

          4  return for foregone revenue.

          5                 Furthermore, to the extent that there

          6  is reporting under the current system, it is clear

          7  that neither the City nor State is effectively

          8  administering economic development incentive

          9  programs.  Our economic development strategy has

         10  been a defensive policy that reacts to individual

         11  companies' threats to leave and has resulted in an

         12  overemphasis on the finance and real estate

         13  industries.

         14                 Given that the overwhelming majority

         15  of retention deals are crafted to appease the

         16  financial services, banking and insurance

         17  industries, most job- oriented financing packages

         18  have almost exclusively focused on Manhattan's

         19  central business districts.

         20                 According to a report issued by

         21  Center for an Urban Future entitled "Engine

         22  Failure," these policies have destabilized the

         23  City's economy, ignored the employment needs of most

         24  residents and failed to develop a comprehensive

         25  workforce- development strategy.  Instead, it is
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          2  incumbent upon legislators to devise and implement a

          3    economic development strategy that emphasizes

          4  value and seeks to fortify more sectors of the

          5  economy and more regions of the City.

          6                 As such, New York City should

          7  reassess the commonplace usage of discretionary

          8  funding and subsidies for corporate retention deals.

          9    Over the past six years, more than $2 billion of

         10  New York City and New York State funds have gone to

         11  some of the world's most profitable companies in the

         12  name of job retention.  Time and time again, New

         13  York city has given tax breaks and incentives to

         14  corporations such as Merrill Lynch, Paine Webber,

         15  Chase Manhattan Bank, Citicorp and Viacom, only to

         16  be thanked by mergers and layoffs.

         17                 One particularly egregious example of

         18  a misuse of these subsidies was the appropriation of

         19  $600 million in Liberty Bonds, funded through the

         20  State- controlled Empire State Development

         21  Corporation and $42 million in City tax breaks

         22  funded through the Industrial Development Agency for

         23  the construction of a building for Bank of America

         24  at Sixth Avenue and 42nd Street.  It strains

         25  credibility to think that subsidies should be

                                                            39

          1  COMMITTEE ON ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT

          2  required to encourage development on this midtown

          3  plot of land, one which is clearly among the most

          4  valuable locations in the entire country.  In

          5  addition, these subsidies were approved despite the

          6  fact that Bank of America has failed to fulfill its

          7  obligations under a previous subsidy deal.  In 1993

          8  Bank of America asked for $12 million in sales- tax

          9  abatements in exchange for a promise to retain 1,700

         10  employees at the World trade Center.  A few years

         11  later the sales tax deal was terminated when Bank of

         12  America merged with Security Pacific National Bank

         13  and laid off 800 employees.

         14                 In other words, the current system is

         15  broken and it invites a number of valid queries

         16  while engendering a reasonable level of concern.  My

         17  State- level legislation, the Corporate

         18  Accountability for Tax Expenditures Act, would help

         19  address these issues.  The ultimate goal of the act

         20  is to provide a comprehensive record of all economic

         21  development incentives that are entered into between

         22  state entities and businesses in order for the

         23  Legislature and the Governor to make well informed

         24  decisions about tax expenditures.

         25                 The bill mandates that all public-
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          2  private economic development partnerships entered

          3  into by any State agency, public authority, or

          4  public benefit corporation be codified as a written

          5  agreement and honored by the subsidized party, lest

          6  it forfeit eligibility for subsidization.  Were a

          7  private entity to violate the terms of the

          8  agreement, either through dereliction of capital

          9  investment or job creation and retention, it would

         10  be deemed ineligible for economic assistance.

         11                 I believe Introduction 373- A would

         12  accomplish similar goals at the City level, thus

         13  creating a more responsible and rational economic

         14  development policy.  Furthermore, it is my

         15  understanding that the latest incarnation of this

         16  measure would allow for enhanced review of public-

         17  private partnerships by better measuring the kinds

         18  of jobs created, in effect, establishing a "job

         19  quality" metric and establishing a methodology

         20  committee that could serve as a mechanism for

         21  programmatic self- assessment.  Both of these

         22  improvements would be invaluable.

         23                 Thank you again for the opportunity

         24  to testify.  I look forward to continuing to work

         25  with the City Council to assure that the State and
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          2  City coordinate efforts to evaluate and rein- in

          3  corporate subsidies.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS:  Deputy

          5  Sweeting.

          6                      Please make sure that you leave

          7  your testimony so we can have copies.  Thank you.

          8                 DEPUTY SWEETING:  Good afternoon

          9  Chairman Sanders, Members of the Committee.  My name

         10  is George Sweeting.  I'm the Deputy Director of the

         11  Independent Budget Office and I am joined by Michael

         12  Jacob, who is the Senior Economist in our office and

         13  is really the person who follows Economic

         14  Development policy most directly for us.

         15                 I've prepared written testimony,

         16  which you have copies.  I'm not going to read that.

         17  I will just try to give you a couple highlights.

         18                 It's been four years now since IBO

         19  published a report documenting some of the problems

         20  and deficiencies in EDC's Local Law 69 report.  Very

         21  much the focus of our work was on sort of the report

         22  as a tool, not the particular policies that are

         23  embedded in, but the report is a tool for evaluating

         24  the policies.

         25                 So the key points in that earlier
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          2  report were first of all, a number of projects are

          3  excluded from the report by the way it is designed.

          4  Some of it from the legislation, some of it the way

          5  the report is carried it out.  There are projects

          6  that are considered too small or excluded, projects

          7  where the benefits exceed eight years, but they are

          8  only reported for eight years.

          9                 The methodology and the design of the

         10  report winds up understating costs and overstating

         11  benefits and we have a lot of detail on how that is

         12  done.  There were inconsistencies and inaccuracies

         13  in the data reported in the report.  Some of them

         14  understandable because you needed to try to estimate

         15  things, others where the property tax exemptions

         16  that were reported didn't match the Department of

         17  Finance's actual records.  There were problems with

         18  timeliness on the distribution of the report.

         19  Overall these problems limit the ability of the City

         20  Council to provide oversight on Economic Development

         21  Agreements and that's the fundamental reason for

         22  producing this report.

         23                 A number of these problems have been

         24  addressed by EDC and I think EDC deserves credit,

         25  particularly the current regime for trying to
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          2  address some of these problems.

          3                 Since that 2001 report, we followed

          4  the work of your Committee as you tried to craft

          5  legislation that would address some of these

          6  problems.  Not all the problems are identified, but

          7  certainly some of the other groups that work in this

          8  area and you have heard testimony from some of them.

          9    We appeared before this Committee I think, we went

         10  through our records, and we think at least twice in

         11  2002 and 2004, in connection with the efforts to try

         12  to strengthen the reporting requirements.  And I

         13  think the Committee Staff is again to be commended

         14  for their work over the last few years and

         15  particularly in bringing Intro. 373- A forward,

         16  because it really does begin to address some of the

         17  problems.

         18                 In my testimony we go through more

         19  detail on some of the particulars used in the

         20  Introduction but I just want to draw attention to

         21  one provision that I think is worth focusing some

         22  time on and that's the proposal to create a

         23  Methodology Committee.  We think that this offers a

         24  solution to what's really quite a difficult conflict

         25  between the need to ensure that there is sufficient
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          2  high- quality data that's produced, you know, by EDC

          3  in order to enable the Council to do its oversight

          4  work.  But that's in conflict with the difficulty of

          5  detailing precisely what that data should look like,

          6  what the content of the methodology report should

          7  look like, trying to do that in Charter language.

          8                 And I think this Committee proposal

          9  offers the flexibility for trying to resolve that

         10  conflict as you move forward.  Because the needs of

         11  the Committee of doing its oversight work, the types

         12  of incentives that are going to be offered, the

         13  types of data that might possibly become available

         14  to help people measure these benefits, these

         15  programs, that's all going to change over time.  And

         16  trying to specify all that in language I think is

         17  difficult and so this Committee I think offers a way

         18  out of that problem by having a process and we

         19  understand that the idea would be an annual meeting

         20  in which this group would get together, go through

         21  some particular issues, make recommendation to EDC.

         22  It is our understanding we read the legislation that

         23  is non- binding, but at least a process for

         24  considering some of these knotty methodology and

         25  data oriented questions.
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          2                 You know IBO is one of the groups

          3  listed in the legislation.  We are happy to serve on

          4  that Committee.  But again, really I think the

          5  Committee having such a Committee is the key issue.

          6  As I said, we are happy to serve on it but the most

          7  important thing is that there is a group here that

          8  is going to try to play this important role.  It

          9  should be a non- partisan group, it can draw upon

         10  the expertise in the City and it can be the forearm

         11  for --

         12                 You know the legislation that you

         13  have before you addresses some of the issues that

         14  IBO identified in its report in 2001, but some of

         15  the issues are not specifically resolved.  And

         16  again, I think the Committee can be a forearm for

         17  trying to address some of those issues also as the

         18  process moves forward.

         19                 Just quickly, there are some other

         20  important issues that the Intro. Does address.  You

         21  have heard testimony on these already and you are

         22  obviously well familiar with what's there. Just

         23  highlight that one, the information on all projects

         24  regardless of size would be included, although some

         25  would be summarized for the smaller projects.  But
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          2  at least you would then know the total amount of

          3  benefits being granted.

          4                 The projects will be included as long

          5  as the agreements are in place.  There is more

          6  detail on the jobs created and the jobs retained and

          7  it's very important that there is now language that

          8  will allow us to distinguish between jobs being

          9  created and jobs being retained.

         10                 The information on the residency of

         11  the workers at the sites is obviously an important

         12  addition to the report.  So, I would be happy to

         13  take any questions you may have.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: Deputy Director,

         15  what about the proprietary consideration that has

         16  been raised.  Any suggestions on how to handle that?

         17    How would you handle that?

         18                 DEPUTY SWEETING: That's obviously a

         19  very important consideration.  Some of the ideas

         20  were discussed earlier in terms of having perhaps

         21  some narrow ranges that you could report that

         22  information in might be a way to do it.  You know,

         23  on the other hand I think there is a balancing act.

         24  You know, firms are receiving a benefit from the

         25  City and you know there is some concessions to if
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          2  you want to participate in the program.  I think

          3  it's legitimate for the City to expect a firm to

          4  give up at least some of its proprietary concerns.

          5  It's a balancing act.  But certainly one way to deal

          6  with it would be to have some narrow ranges that you

          7  could produce, not precise numbers, but summarize

          8  numbers, in terms of the number of people and the

          9  wages and whatever.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: Will 373- A,

         11  will the reporting requirements of 373- A put an

         12  undue hardship on the EDC to comply with?

         13                 DEPUTY SWEETING:  You know, I can't

         14  really answer  that without knowing exactly how they

         15  do their report today and what exactly it entails.

         16  Certainly it sounds like it would be additional work

         17  beyond what they are doing today.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: Okay.  All

         19  right.  I will yield to my colleague from Brooklyn

         20  who may have a question about this matter.  Council

         21  Member James.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Good afternoon

         23  Mr. Sweeting. I'm playing catch- up on this bill

         24  because it's gone through, it's evolved, guess I'll

         25  say.  What are the points of contention you have
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          2  with staff as it relates to this bill?

          3                 DEPUTY SWEETING: I don't think we

          4  have really significant issues.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: None?  Okay,

          6  let me just start again.  The issue of proprietary

          7  versus anti- competition.  Can you just explain that

          8  to me?  I'm having a difficult time understanding

          9  and how that is an issue as it relates to this bill.

         10                 DEPUTY SWEETING:  I haven't heard

         11  exactly what argument was presented on this, so I'm

         12  not sure exactly you know, what issues are in the

         13  minds of people who are concerned about this.  I

         14  suspect it would have something to do with the fact

         15  that if you reveal what your average wage or

         16  particular job level is, you are giving your

         17  competitors information about how you have

         18  structured your business operations and what you are

         19  paying people. That affects information that your

         20  competitors can use.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: And the issue

         22  with regards to providing information regarding the

         23  residency of its workers.  As far as you know would

         24  that apply to subcontractors on the job as well?

         25                 DEPUTY SWEETING: I'm not sure.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: No? Yes? Okay.

          3

          4                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS:  When you do

          5  answer, if you can come into that microphone and

          6  identify yourself again for the record.

          7                 DEPUTY SWEETING: There was some

          8  discussion earlier today about whether the language

          9  is tailored so as to require residency reporting for

         10  all of the company's operations rather than just at

         11  that particular site.  That might be an area where

         12  it might be worth taking a look at exactly how

         13  important it is to know the residency of all of the

         14  firms employees.  What's really an issue is the

         15  benefit being offered at a particular site.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: And currently

         17  is any information that will be required under this

         18  bill is it reported now to any City agency or to

         19  anyone?

         20                 DEPUTY SWEETING: Bits and pieces of

         21  it are reported in many different places.  The State

         22  Department of Labor knows the number of employees

         23  and the total salary.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Total?

         25                 DEPUTY SWEETING: Well by job type so
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          2  you can create averages pretty easily.  The City,

          3  through its tax return processing knows the --

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Residency.

          5                 DEPUTY SWEETING:  -- It can get at

          6  the residency.

          7  It's a tricky process but one can do it.  And the

          8  City, from its business tax returns knows a lot of

          9  information about at least the firm's costs and

         10  revenues.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: And in terms of

         12  subsidies, that is currently within the jurisdiction

         13  or in the domain of EDC presently?

         14                 DEPUTY SWEETING: Subsidies?

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Tax subsidies.

         16                 DEPUTY SWEETING: Well, there are two

         17  distinct types of subsidies.  There are the over-

         18  right benefits, which many of them are conferred

         19  through the City property tax system, and those are

         20  tracked and reported by the Department of Finance.

         21  They have their annual report on tax expenditures

         22  that is required in the City Charter. That's the

         23  primary source for that type of subsidy. What is

         24  reported in the Local Law 69 and presumably that

         25  stays unchanged is the negotiated benefits.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: And that would

          3  include, but not be limited to pilots.

          4                 DEPUTY SWEETING: Well any of the EDC

          5  benefits, particularly the IDA programs, involve

          6  pilot payments and they are in there.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Interesting.

          8  Thank you.

          9                 MR. JACOB: Michael Jacob, Senior

         10  Economist, Independent Budget Office.  Just to

         11  answer your question about subcontractors, I didn't

         12  remember seeing and I just double checked, I don't

         13  see any language that requires that.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Thank you.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON SANDERS: Let me say this.

         16    That the interest of the people of New York is

         17  clear.  And I can answer at the risk of being rather

         18  imperial, let me state the interest of the people.

         19  New York City money needs to create New York City

         20  jobs and there is an expectation that these are good

         21  jobs.  That these are jobs that had benefits and

         22  would allow you to have the ability to live and

         23  partake in New York City.

         24                 In order for this to happen one

         25  thing, many things have to happen, but here is one.
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          2  Clarity on the part of those who make the decision

          3  about this money is a primary.  If the people are

          4  not clear who are making the decisions you will at

          5  best have muddy decisions.  Some will be good, some

          6  will be bad, only God will know.             The EDC

          7  constantly had been praised in this hearing for

          8  doing far better than we have done in a long time.

          9  We have moved a great distance, we have come a long

         10  way.  I've heard it from the IBO, I've heard it from

         11  the Advocates, I've heard it from everyone.  I've

         12  even heard it from the EDC.  And of course now you

         13  hear it from me.  I too praise the EDC for coming a

         14  great distance. There were 20 some odd issues that

         15  divided us at the beginning of the conversation that

         16  we are having on this bill and that there are at

         17  best four issues that divide us mean that we have

         18  come a great way and I really commend everybody

         19  whose taken part in that conversation, including our

         20  staff.  Thank you very much for staying the course

         21  in here.

         22                 I hear of again four basic issues and

         23  for your sake Council Member James, I am going to

         24  say what they were.  They were basically paragraph

         25  B- 10.  You may make available to her later on what
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          2  these things mean.  Paragraph B- 10, which had to

          3  do, if my memory serves me correct, with the wages

          4  or salaries and benefits of course, health benefits

          5  of course.  Paragraph B- 11, had to do with

          6  measuring where these jobs were, how many were in

          7  New York City and who in New York City and was

          8  simply for the people who were involved in this --

          9  Let me do it different.  Is it simply for the

         10  project that is funded.  Paragraph B- 13, spoke of

         11  benefits and the question of the effective date.  A

         12  suggestion was put on the floor that October the

         13  first would do very well and would enable deals that

         14  had been previously established to not be restricted

         15  by this or another level of paperwork given to them.

         16                 I personally urge everyone, October

         17  the first sounds like a million years from now to

         18  me.  If we were not in the day and age of

         19  megamergers or meganess if you wish, I think I've

         20  coined a new word, October the first might sound

         21  good.  I kind of like May the 30th, but that's all

         22  right.  I'm sure that through the course of

         23  negotiations we will come up with what is

         24  appropriate.

         25                 So I encourage all of us to put our
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          2  thinking caps back on to see what we can do today

          3  before this day is up.  I just have faith that we've

          4  gotten this far.  I heard a lot of concessions in

          5  the air.  Your first concern was you didn't want to

          6  mess with any proprietary issues.  I think that an

          7  honorable way out was given, was arranged that may

          8  be able to work.

          9                 Your second point was do you measure

         10  everyone in a firm, while that may be admirable, I

         11  believe we should measure folk impacted by this

         12  particular money.  That if the money is for a

         13  certain project, then perhaps we need to find

         14  certain ways of narrowing that to that project.  Now

         15  look, I just gave two.

         16                 Surely I believe in 50/50.  I believe

         17  that the other side is going to give me two also and

         18  the world will be a good place and we will be made a

         19  better New York for it.  If there are no final

         20  conversations from my colleagues, then again I want

         21  to thank my Staff Analyst who is sitting in the back

         22  whose struggling and writing all these good things

         23  down.  She is in the back and she had my back in

         24  there.  But I also want to thank my Counsel and of

         25  course I would be remiss if I did not thank you for
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          2  keeping us all on target and safe and plugged in.

          3                 To this panel, thank you very much

          4  for your time and attention to this matter and  to

          5  everyone who has come, to EDC I really appreciate

          6  the great efforts that you guys have made on this.

          7  To the Mayor's Office and to the advocates who can

          8  never be paid enough.  If I had my way I'd double

          9  your pay.  Since I don't have that, let me call this

         10  hearing over.

         11                 (Hearing concluded 1:16 p.m.)
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